On Workplace-based Assessment in Clerkship

An Overview for Clerkship Directors, Faculty & Residents teaching in clerkship



Karen Spear Ellinwood, PhD, JD, EdS Director, Faculty instructional development Curricular Affairs UArizona College of Medicine-Tucson

Contents

Introduction	1
The Purpose of this Memo	1
Workplace-based Assessment: A Familiar Tool in GME	1
What is Workplace-based Assessment?	1
Three Critical Components of Workplace-based Assessment	2
Component 1: Real Time Observation in Real Situations	2
Component 2: Criterion-based Assessment	2
Who benefits from Criterion-based Assessment?	3
Component 3: Formative feedback	4
Feedback vs. Evaluative statements	4
What makes feedback formative?	4
Workplace-based assessment & Accountability	5
How can WPB assessment Help To Reduce unconscious bias?	6
What is unconscious bias?	6
Clerkship grading at CoM-T	6
Reducing Unconscious Bias in Clerkship Grading Requires a Multi-faceted Approach	7
Using WPB Assessment as Summative Assessment	8
Educator Development on WPA	9
Frequency & Type of Training	9
Bibliography on Key Topics	10
Assessment & WPB Assessment	10
Entrustability Scale	11
Feedback	11
Unconscious Bias	11

INTRODUCTION

The Purpose of this Memo

This memo is intended to make sure that we are using the same language for discussing workplace-based assessment and to help in developing such an assessment for use in clerkship. The overarching goal is to explore how we can use this approach to improve how we measure student performance, how we give formative feedback to students, and reduce unconscious bias in clerkship assessment.

WORKPLACE-BASED ASSESSMENT: A FAMILIAR TOOL IN GME

Most clinicians have participated in some form of workplace-based assessment, whether as a learner or an instructor, or both. The goal is to give timely, valuable feedback based upon real time observations of clinical performance.

For example, the American Board of Internal Medicine (ABIM) developed the Mini Clinical Evaluation Exercise, or Mini-CEX, to promote workplace-based assessments in residency.

> The Mini-CEX is a 10- to 20-minute direct observation assessment or "snapshot" of a trainee-patient interaction. Faculty are encouraged to perform at least one per clinical rotation. To be most useful, faculty should provide timely and specific feedback to the trainee after each assessment of a traineepatient encounter. (ABIM, ND)

The form is short and has a 3-point scale for assessing

essential skills, such as interviewing patients, and communication skills (<u>ABIM Mini-CEX</u>, ND), and includes a small space for feedback.

WHAT IS WORKPLACE-BASED ASSESSMENT?

"Workplace-based assessment (WPBA) consists of direct observation of trainee performance in clinical settings, followed by the provision of focused feedback," (Norcini et al. 2003,).

In other words, workplace-based assessment is the "assessment of what the trainee 'does in real life 'onthe-job'" (Hamdy, p. 58). This refers to assessment that occurs while students are engaged in patient care or other activities in actual healthcare settings. Workplace-based assessments are based on actual observations and measured against established criteria for demonstrating achievement of learning objectives. In other words, workplace-based assessment is fact-based and deliberately avoids assessment based on generalized impressions or opinions without more.



THREE CRITICAL COMPONENTS OF WORKPLACE-BASED ASSESSMENT

There are three components of workplace-based assessment: 1) Observation of clinical performance in real time; (2) use of a criterion-based assessment; and (3) provision of formative feedback.



Component 1: Real Time Observation in Real Situations

Assessing medical students while they engage in learning activities in clinical settings qualify as events for workplace-based assessment. For example, workplace-based assessment can be conducted while a medical student interviews a patient, performs a patient exam, presents a patient or discusses with the healthcare team how to interpret diagnostic tests and generate a plan of care. Observed Structured Clinical Exams (OSCE) in clerkship would not be considered a type of workplace-based assessment, because the medical student is performing the task or demonstrating knowledge in a <u>simulated</u> context, rather than in a genuine patient care or other clinical setting.

Component 2: Criterion-based Assessment

Criterion-based performance means that we assess student performance with respect to established standards for performance, and not in comparison with other learners' performance (Bond, 1996). For example, assessing an individual student in light the performance of other students in that clerkship or rotation, is called "normative" assessment. Using this approach can cause variation in rater (faculty) assessment of student performance, variation not connected to actual performance.

In addition, the normative approach to assessment, particularly when done "off the cuff", is impossible for a student to ascertain and is, in effect, an unpublished standard. No student would be able to determine how they would be assessed. Instructors also would not know what the standard would be until they had observed all the students in a given group. For faculty, fellows and residents who do not have the opportunity to observe everyone in the group, this would be invalidate the application of a normative approach. Some residents are new to teaching and would not have any experience other than their own, and so might substitute their self-assessment.

Normative assessment in clerkship, then, allows for more variation attributable to error and opinion, rather than to the unevenness of student performance itself.

Criterion-based assessment intends to remove this kind of error and to avoid assessment based on mere opinion without a factual basis. The variability in performance among a group of students would be irrelevant to the assessment of a particular student because we would measure whether the student achieved the learning objectives, not whether they performed as well as the average student.

Since our goal is to ensure that students understand the expectations for performance, it is important for them to know how performance will be assessed. Such criteria also help those who teach in clerkship as they can focus their efforts on guiding students toward achievement of those objectives.

Workplace-based assessment relies on criterion-referenced principles. Below is a chart to offer a summary of the differences between the two approaches to assessment.

Table 1 Criterion-referenced vs. Norm-referenced Assessment (see, Bond, 1996).

	Criterion-referenced Assessment	Norm-referenced Assessment
HOW	 Criterion-referenced assessments measure whether and how well a student has mastered a specific learning goal (or objective). Rubric defines the criteria upon which students are assessed and assist instructors in conducting the assessment. 	 Norm-referenced tests assess compares individual student performance with the performance of a group.
WHY	• To find out how whether students know and can do what we expect them to within the context and time frame established	 To discriminate between high and low achievers.
WHAT does it mean?	• The score represents the individual student's performance as compared with established (written) standards for achievement. How other students perform is irrelevant.	 The score represent how the individual student performed in comparison with other students' performance.

Who benefits from Criterion-based Assessment?

Everyone who is engaged in criterion-based assessment has the potential to benefit. There are direct and indirect beneficiaries.

Direct Beneficiaries: The Learner & Instructor

The learner and instructor directly participate in criterion-based assessment and may gain the most direct rewards. For example, the learner understands they must do to meet expectations. In conjunction with workplace-based assessment, the student also receives actionable guidance for improving performance. Ultimately, this increase their chances of success in clerkship. The criteria clarify for the instructor how to "measure" an individual student's performance. Instructors do not need to compare students to others. Therefore, the lack of experience in assessing other students does not affect assessment.

The instructor focuses on specific skills and knowledge that ought to be developed. The criteria also serve as a reminder of what students should be taught and can help faculty focus on goals for future teaching as well as to help students achieve success.

Indirect Beneficiaries: Patients & the College Community

Indirect beneficiaries are the patients for whom our faculty, fellows and residents provide healthcare and the broader College of Medicine-Tucson community. The more successful our medical students become in developing clinical skills, integrating basic and clinical sciences in practice, patient communication and related activities, the better-served patient populations will be in clerkship. As students become residents

and attendings they carry with them an effective model for teacher/learner dynamics and fair, fact-based assessment.

In addition, the college community also benefits because criterion-based assessment helps us to achieve LCME compliance by demonstrating that we have established clear expectations for student performance in clerkship and provide formative feedback that supports successful achievement.

Component 3: Formative feedback

It is important to define feedback by what it is and what it is *not*, and then to describe what makes feedback *formative*.

Feedback vs. Evaluative statements

Evaluation and feedback are not the same thing. Evaluation may not incorporate feedback, and feedback is much more than evaluative remarks. Evaluative remarks offer a sense of how well or poorly the student is performing in general terms. Comments such as "great job" or "needs work", without more, do not provide information the student can act upon to either continue excellent performance or improve poor performance (see, Gigante, 2011).

In contrast, feedback tells the learner what they did well and what they need to improve, with a level of detail that enables them to make changes or to know which behaviors or practices they should continue.

Nicol and McFarlane-Dick (2006) identified seven principles of "good feedback practice", emphasizing that this supports effective teacher/learner rapport and provides opportunities to close the gap between current and desired performance and/or to clarify expectations for performance. Hewson and Little (1998) reviewed research on feedback to identify factors that influenced whether learners found feedback to be "helpful". Providing specific information about what a learner did or did not do, clarifying expectations for performance and offering guidance for further growth or how to improve performance, were all considered "helpful" aspects of feedback.

What makes feedback formative?

In health sciences education, particularly in clinical education, Cantillon and Sargeant (2008) established an evidence-based model for giving constructive feedback. The research on feedback since the introduction of their reflective feedback conversation model continues to support their recommended

approach. Cantillon & Sargeant (2008) emphasized that feedback is part of the learning experience, which is well-aligned with the purpose of workplace-based assessment.

Feedback should describe specific observable behaviors that represent something the learner achieved well and something they might need to improve. Feedback should invite the learner to reflect on performance and self-assess, as well as clarify expectations for performance, and offer actionable guidance for improvement. While this approach was addressing verbal feedback, the same principles apply to narrative feedback (see, Kogan 2013).



The bottom line is that feedback, whether written or verbal, must be "actionable". This means we should include specific guidance for HOW to improve or enhance performance.

[F]eedback is formative, meaning that it happens in real time with the intent of helping the learner develop and improve. Feedback is designed to foster learning. Feedback is about current, rather than past, performance. It is meant to convey information reinforce strengths, and identify areas in need of improvement, "before it counts." (Kogan 2013, 92).

In other words, formative feedback alerts the learner as to what they need to improve and how they can improve it at a time when making such improvements will help them to improve before it is too late.

If we offer feedback, no matter how constructive, with the final assessment, the student has no opportunity to develop the skills or knowledge necessary to meet the established criteria. Constructive feedback given at the mid-clerkship point is meant to provide the students with that opportunity. This is what the mid-clerkship workplace-based assessment is designed to accomplish.

Therefore, if we consider the "big picture" of the student's place in the clerkship curriculum, we must consider all student performance in relation to what we have asked them to know or to be able to do by the time the clerkship rotation has been completed.

Formative assessment, then, is driven by these three questions:

- 1. What is the learning objective?
- 2. Where is the learner's performance in relation to achievement of that learning objective?
- 3. How can we convey feedback that will help the student achieve that objective?

Table 2, below, provides two examples demonstrating the difference between an evaluative statement and formative feedback.

Evaluative Remark	Vs.	Formative Feedback
Learner present patient cases well		Student researched pertinent topics after each patient encounter, which contributed to developing a reasonable differential and more effective discussion of patients. I encourage the student to continue this practice.
Learner does not present patient cases well		The student did not address basic questions pertinent to the patient's symptoms or suspected conditions during patient presentations or informal discussion. I recommend researching pertinent topics using ClinicalKey, UpToDate or other appropriate clinical databases before presenting patients. This will help to identify questions on topic and foster productive discussions about patients.

WORKPLACE-BASED ASSESSMENT & ACCOUNTABILITY

To be accountable to the public, medical educators must, despite these challenges, ensure that residents completing training can be entrusted to perform the tasks of the profession (i.e. the trainee must demonstrate the knowledge, skills and attitudes necessary to warrant trust in his or her ability to perform an activity independently) and are, at minimum, competent to practise unsupervised.¹⁶–¹⁸ Workplace-based assessments can inform these decisions. (Kogan rater perspectives)

The same is true in undergraduate medical education. When we assess medical students accurately and give constructive feedback to improve, we will better serve the public's interest in having well-trained physicians who can provide effective healthcare. This societal goal is also recognized as a goal of assessment in GME.

HOW CAN WPB ASSESSMENT HELP TO REDUCE UNCONSCIOUS BIAS?

What is <u>un</u>conscious bias?

Microaggressions are often the result of unconscious biases that lead to unintended discrimination against or degradation of those who are socially marginalized in a society, whether for skin color, gender, sexual orientation, age, language, origin, religion, disability, or any other characteristic. (Bellack 2015, 63).

Unconscious bias does not involve intention to hurt feelings or harm someone. It is sometimes referred to as implicit bias - a bias that we are not engaging in intentionally or that we might not be aware we have. Despite this, we might act upon a bias without realizing it. Reflecting on our own possible biases is helpful to become aware and is the first step toward committing to removing bias from teaching and grading.

When we use the terms unconscious bias or implicit bias we do not include explicit (intentional) bias. When someone is aware of a certain bias and acts consciously despite that awareness, this is a deliberate act to favor one learner or hinder another.

Some unconscious biases favor certain groups. We might imagine that this would cause no harm. However, favoring some learners means we implicitly overlook or disfavor others. This sort of unconscious or implicit bias creates an inequitable learning environment. See, Bellack, 2015.

Since actions that impose unconscious bias can negatively affect leaners, they also have the potential to impact the learning environment as a whole. Educators, then, must commit to engage in practices that will guard against their own unconscious bias as well as address the possible biases of others in the educational process.

Clerkship grading at CoM-T

In addition to implementing a process that seeks to promote fact-based assessment, the College of Medicine-Tucson also seeks to utilize workplace-based assessment to help reduce unconscious bias from clerkship assessment. This is also part of the college wide anti-racism initiative.

Director of AMERI, Kadian McIntosh, PhD, presented data on the intersection of student demographic data and clerkship grading at the UArizona CoM-T. Below is a chart summarizing key points from Dr. McIntosh's presentation.

Research shows

- •Only 44% of medical students believe that clerkship grading is fair
- •Student perception is that grading might be a popularity contest
- •>40% of graduates report experienc bias based on their race, gedner, or other personal trait (per AAMC data)
- Minority students received lower evaluations when compared to their white counterparts, even after controlling for factors such as step 1 scores and gender

Figure 1 AMERI Presentation by Dr. McIntosh (July 17, 2020; p. 5).

AMERI Analaysi of CoM-T Clerkship Grading Data shows

- MORE white students receive Pass or High Pass, Superior or HOnors in Clerkship than non-white students (Statistically SIgnificant w/ Positive Effect, Sig-POS)
- •FEWER white students FAIL than non-white students (Sig-NEG)

Clerkship Grades by Demographics



Reducing Unconscious Bias in Clerkship Grading Requires a Multi-faceted Approach

The College of Medicine-Tucson has dedicated itself to eradicating this bias in teaching and grading. As you know it has launched the Anti-racism Initiative with several committees addressing various aspects of medical education, such as faculty development, curriculum and assessment.

Training and ongoing conversations with colleagues. The Office of Diversity, Equity & Inclusion is conducting college-wide training on this topic, and there are several committees working on anti-racism initiatives in a joint effort with the Office of Curricular Affairs.

Curricular Affairs is proposing to use workplace-based assessment in clerkship as part of its contribution to helping to remove unconscious bias from grading in clerkship because the essential components of WBA divert our focus away from generalized impressions or hearsay and towards observed performance.

- Assessment in REAL TIME while our memory is fresh
- Aligning assessment with established criteria KNOWN to the student.
- Anchoring assessment and feedback to descriptions of specific observations.

USING WPB ASSESSMENT AS SUMMATIVE ASSESSMENT

In addition, typically, WPB assessment is used to provide formative assessment to guide the improvement of performance. It is not, generally, used for summative assessment, and "its usefulness for summative assessment is not undisputed (Norcini and Burch 2007; McGaghie et al. 2009)," (Govaerts et al 2013, 376). The reason for the disagreement is that there is room for inter-rater variability the "inherent subjectivity and the resulting weaknesses in the quality of measurement" as when one evaluator assesses a learners ability to independently perform a skill while another determines the need for continued close supervision.

"In general, the idiosyncratic nature of (untrained) rater judgments results in large differences between performance ratings, low inter- and intra-rater reliabilities and questionable validity of WBA (Albanese2000; Williams et al.2003)." (Govaerts 2013, 376).

There has been much research done on the persistence of rater variability despite training (Govaerts et al. 2013):

- Raters have idiosyncratic theories of what makes for good or poor performance (e.g., Uggerslev and Sulsky, 2008)
- The complexity of the assessment context (local norms, time pressure, emotion or affective factors, etc.) may influence the assessment of individual performance (e.g, Levy & Williams, 2004)
- Conflating or "blurring" the competency domains of work performance vs. learner performance (Ginsburg et al. 2010)
- Differences between what faculty say they should do and what they do in practice (Ginsburg et al. 2010)

Thus, it would be prudent to have multiple data points to achieve fair and accurate assessment and reduce bias or error in the process.

Clerkship grading committees is another way to avoid rater variability issues and guard against the influence of unconscious bias (Frank et al. 2019). In that study, the faculty attempted to consider and quantify the narrative feedback comments in the WPB assessments as a contribution to grade calculation. This proved difficult but resulted in open conversation about the role of unconscious bias in grading.

"All participants felt that unconscious bias could affect assessments but were uncertain how to approach the problem," (Frank, 672). Some felt they could be immune from unconscious bias when they had no contact with the learners directly but were instead calculating grades based upon others' assessments. Frank et al (2019) study on grading by committee identified a number of potential implicit biases of instructors, such as a preference for "go-getters", gendered expectations for performance, and factors such as presenting as a high-end performer or demonstrating greater comfort in the clerkship.

EDUCATOR DEVELOPMENT ON WPA

Faculty development will be key to implementing workplace-based assessment in clerkship. We will need to anticipate the challenges for assessing novice learners. Curricular Affairs in partnership with the clerkships will align the assessment process with competencies and clerkship learning objectives to provide medical students and instructors with a clear understanding of expectations for performance in clerkship. "The successful implementation of competency-based education requires faculty development to improve the quality of WBA and ultimately patient care," (Kogan et al).

"Workplace-based assessment has become an essential component of medical education because, ultimately, clinical supervisors must be able to determine if a trainee can be entrusted with the tasks or activities critical to the profession," (Gingerich 2014, 1055).

Before the new workplace based assessment is launched in March 2021, we will train faculty, fellows and residents who teach in clerkship on the process and new form, to ensure they have the information, support and practice needed to perform the new assessment as intended.

The content of faculty and resident educator development will address these issues:

- (1) what workplace based assessment is;
- (2) the entrustment scale and its alignment with clerkship objectives and competencies;
- (3) the new form and how to access and use it;
- (4) exploration of unconscious bias and instructors' theories of assessing learner performance and alignment with criterion based assessment; and
- (5) active learning exercises to provide opportunities to practice applying the new assessment form to learner cases and to evaluate examples of WPB assessments in comparison with competencies, Core EPAs and clerkship learning objectives.

Frequency & Type of Training

Effective faculty development does more than simply one-off training sessions; it allows for faculty to utilize the knowledge and strategies and then to return for questions, feedback and further training to support implementation of new teaching or assessment practices (Sirianni et al. 2020). Therefore, the plan is to do both an orientation and ongoing development for faculty and residents.

As indicated above, we plan to offer ongoing support to faculty, fellows and residents. The logistics may well depend on when departments and residency programs can create opportunities for training. In addition we will provide online resources.

BIBLIOGRAPHY ON KEY TOPICS¹

Assessment & WPB Assessment

- American Board of Internal Medicine (ABIM). <u>https://www.abim.org/program-directors-administrators/assessment-tools/mini-cex.aspx</u>
- Bond, L. (1996). Norm- and criterion-referenced testing. Practical Assessment, Research & Evaluation, 5(2). Retrieved September 2002, from <u>http://ericae.net/pare/getvn.asp?v=5&n=2</u>.
- Deiorio NM, Carney PA, Kahl LE, Bonura Em & Miller Juve A. Coaching: a new model for academic and career achievement. Med Educ Online 2016, 21: 33480 http://dx.doi.org/10.3402/meo.v21.33480.
- **Govaerts** MJ, Schuwirth LW, Van der Vleuten CP, Muijtjens AM. Workplace-based assessment: effects of rater expertise. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract. 2011;16(2):151-165. doi:10.1007/s10459-010-9250-7.
- **Govaerts** MJ, Van de Wiel MW, Schuwirth LW, Van der Vleuten CP, Muijtjens AM. Workplace-based assessment: raters' performance theories and constructs. Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract. 2013;18(3):375-396. doi:10.1007/s10459-012-9376-x
- Halman S, Rekman J, Wood T, et al. Avoid reinventing the wheel: implementation of the Ottawa Clinic Assessment Tool (OCAT) in Internal Medicine. BMC Med Educ. 2018; 19: 218.
- Hamdy, H. AMEE guide supplements: Workplace-based assessment as an educational tool. Guide supplement 31.1 Viewpoint; *Medical Teacher 31*:59-60; 2009.
- M, Young, M & Nguyen LHP. Toolbox of assessment tools of technical skills in otolaryngology–head and neck surgery: A systematic review. Laryngoscope, 128:1571–1575, 2018.
- Martin L, Sibbald M. Barking up the same tree? Lessons from workplace-based assessment and digital badges. Medical Education. 2020;54(7):593-595. doi:10.1111/medu.14178
- Mortaz Hejri, Sara, Jalili, Mohammad, Masoomi, Rasoul, Shirazi, Mandana, Nedjat, Saharnaz, and Norcini, John. "The Utility of Mini-Clinical Evaluation Exercise in Undergraduate and Postgraduate Medical Education: A BEME Review: BEME Guide No. 59." Medical Teacher. 42.2 (2020): 125-42. Web.
- Norcini J, Blank L, Duffy FD, Fortina G. 2003. The mini-CEX: A method of assessing clinical skills. Ann Intern Med 138:476–481.
- Peters, H., Holzhausen, Y., Maaz, A. et al. Introducing an assessment tool based on a full set of end-oftraining EPAs to capture the workplace performance of final-year medical students. BMC Med Educ 19, 207 (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1600-4</u>
- Rekman J, Gofton W, Dudek N, et al. Entrustability scales: Outlining their usefulness for competencybased clinical assessment. Acad Med. 2016; 91: 186-190.
- Understanding Medical Education : Evidence, Theory and Practice, edited by Tim Swanwick, John Wiley & Sons, Incorporated, 2010. ProQuest Ebook Central, <u>https://ebookcentral.proguest.com/lib/uaz/detail.action?docID=589220</u>.

¹ Articles with lead author in bold font are cited in this lit review.

Entrustability Scale

- Association of American Medical Colleges. Core EPA pilot participants. Available from: <u>https://www.aamc.org/initiatives/coreepas/pilotparticipants</u>. Accessed: Feb, 2011.
- Dolan BM, O'Brien CL, Green MM. Including Entrustment Language in an Assessment Form May Improve Constructive Feedback for Student Clinical Skills. Medical Science Educator. 2017;27(3):461-464.
- Englander R, Flynn T, Call S, et al. Toward defining the foundation of the MD degree: Core Entrustable professional activities for entering residency. Acad Med. 2016; 91: 1352-1358.

Feedback

- Abraham, R.M., Singaram, V.S. Using deliberate practice framework to assess the quality of feedback in undergraduate clinical skills training. BMC Med Educ 19, 105 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1186/s12909-019-1547-5
- Cantillon P & Sargeant J. Giving Feedback in clinical settings. British Medical Journal 337:1292-94; Nov 2008.
- Ende J. Feedback in clinical medical education. JAMA 250(8):777-81; 1983
- Gigante J et al. Getting Beyond "Good Job": How to Give Effective Feedback. Pediatrics Vol. 127, No.2;
- Hewson MG & Lille ML. Giving Feedback in Medical Education. Journal of General Internal Medicine, 13: 111–116; 1998. doi: 10.1046/j.1525---1497.1998.00027.x
- Kogan J. How to evaluate and give feedback. In, L.W. Roberts (ed.), The Academic Medicine Handbook: A Guide to Achievement and Fulfillment for Academic Faculty. Springer:New York, pp. 91-101; 2013. DOI 10.1007/978--1---4614---5693---3_11.
- Nicol DJ & Macfarlane-Dick D. Formative assessment and self-regulated learning: a model and seven principles of good feedback practice, Studies in Higher Educa1on, 31:2, 199-218; 2006. Accessed at: h]p://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03075070600572090.
- Spear Ellinwood KC. Reflective Feedback Conversations. Online course in Rise Articulate. <u>https://rise.articulate.com/share/vxJXIMbef--QZWuGUSI1j1tUbtxh_xj-#/</u> (CoM-T Resource).

Unconscious Bias

- **Bellack** J. Unconscious Bias: An Obstacle to Cultural Competence. Editorial. Journal of Nursing Education. 54:9, Suppl., 2015.
- Bullock J & Hauer KE. Healing a broken clerkship grading system. <u>https://www.aamc.org/news-insights/healing-broken-clerkship-grading-system</u> (AAMC Diversity & Inclusion in Medical Education; 22 Feb 2020).
- Bullock, J. L., Lai, C. J., Lockspeiser, T., O'Sullivan, P. S., Aronowitz, P., Dellmore, D., Fung, C. C., Knight, C., & Hauer, K. E. (2019). In Pursuit of Honors: A Multi-Institutional Study of Students' Perceptions of Clerkship Evaluation and Grading. Academic medicine : journal of the Association of American Medical Colleges, 94(11S Association of American Medical Colleges Learn Serve Lead), S48-S56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/ACM.00000000002905</u>
- Grosvenor AM. Isnt' She Lovely? Medicine@Brown. <u>https://medicine.at.brown.edu/article/isnt-she-lovely/</u> (posted Fall 2019).
- Hemmer, P.A., Karani, R. Let's Face It: We Are Biased, and It Should Not Be That Way. J GEN INTERN MED 34, 649–651 (2019). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-04923-w</u>

- Lee, Katherine & Vaishnavi, Sanjeev & Lau, Steven & Andriole, Dorothy & Jeffe, Donna. (2007). "Making the grade:" Noncognitive predictors of medical students' clinical clerkship grades. Journal of the National Medical Association. 99. 1138-50.
- Low D, Pollack SW, Liao ZC, et al. Racial/Ethnic Disparities in Clinical Grading in Medical School. Teach Learn Med. 2019;31(5):487-496. doi:10.1080/10401334.2019.1597724
- Steinke P & Fitch P. Minimizing Bias When Assessing Student Work. Research & Practice in Assessment, 12, 87-95; 2017.